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QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether an agreement between a purchaser and
asupplier to eliminate a competing supplier may be
condemned as an unlawful group boycott in violation
of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 1.

2. Whether a purchaser may conspire to monopolize
in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15
U.S.C. 2, when the purchaser agrees with a supplier
to eliminate a competing supplier with the specific
intent to assist the first supplier in its acquisition or
maintenance of monopoly power.
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In the Supreme Court of the United States

OCTOBER TERM, 1997

No. 96-1570
NYNEX CORPORATION, ET AL., PETITIONERS
V.

DISCON, INCORPORATED

ONWRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE
UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE SECOND CIRCUIT

BRIEF FOR THE UNITED STATESAND THE
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ASAMICI CURIAE
IN SUPPORT OF VACATING THE JUDGMENT

INTEREST OF THE UNITED STATES
AND THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

The United States and the Federal Trade Commis-
sion have primary responsbility for enforcing the
federal antitrust laws and thus have a substantial
interest in ensuring that the Sherman Act is con-
strued in a manner that advances, rather than im-
pedes, its objectives. At this Court's invitation, the
United States and the Federal Trade Commission
filed abrief at the petition stage of this case.

(1)






remova servicesfrom AT& T, dlegedly at inflated
prices. MECo allegedly passed these prices on to
NY T, which submitted them to state regulators as
acost of providing local telephone service. Because
the regulators set NY T'srates for local telephone
services based on its cost of service, NYT recovered
from itslocal telephone customers the amounts that
it paid to MECo (and hence AT&T) for removal
services. AT& T dlegedly then paid MECo a secret
year-end rebate that, in effect, reduced the prices
that MECo paid for AT& T removal services below
the levelsthat NY T disclosed to state regulators.
Amend. Compl. 1 30-31, 59, 64-67, 110 (J.A.
83-84, 92-94, 112-113). Thus, as the court of
appeals explained, petitioners allegedly "were able to
generate increased revenues that were essentially
derived from [NY T's] telephone monopoly" while
avoiding "oversight from the state regulatory
commission." Pet. App. 5a.

Because the conspiracy, as dleged in Discon's
complaint, hinged on MECo's acceptance of inflated
bidsfrom AT&T and on the state regulators as-
sumption that the pricesthat NY T disclosed to them
were legitimate, the conspiracy was at risk of being
exposed if the regulators learned of lower bids sub-
mitted by competing lower-cost suppliers, particu-
larly absent any satisfactory explanation as to why
those suppliers had not been selected over AT&T.
Discon alleged that it posed precisely such athreat
because it refused to join the conspiracy, sought to
sell removal services directly to NY T instead of

(see Pet. App. 8a-104a), we ascribe MECo's aleged conduct to
NYNEX and NYT.



acting through MECo, and underbid AT&T's
inflated bids. Amend. Compl. 11 40-45, 52 (J.A.
87-88, 90). *

According to Discon's complaint, in order to elimi-
nate the threat posed by Discon, petitioners and
AT&T conspired to exclude Discon from the market.
Amend. Compl. 1 2-3, 32-33 (J.A. 75-77, 84-86).
Petitioners, among other things, granted contracts to
AT&T even when Discon, alower-cost supplier, sub-
mitted substantially lower bids. Id. 34 (J.A. 86).
Petitioners also decertified Discon as an approved
supplier for NYNEX affiliates and, in concert with
AT&T, disseminated false information designed to
provide state regulators with facially legitimate (but
wholly pretextual) reasons for Discon's decertifica-
tion. Id. 91 33, 47, 50, 53-56 (J.A. 84-86, 89-91).
Barred from supplying the major users of removal
servicesin New Y ork, Discon went out of business.
Id. 97108, 113 (J.A. 112-113). The result, according
to the complaint, was that AT& T "perpetuated its
monopoly

2 According to Discon’s complaint, the scheme ultimately
was uncovered and, in 1992, state regulators “ prohibited
most transactions between NY T and unregul ated
affiliates” Amend. Compl. 116 (J.A. 79). The FCC aso
initiated enforcement proceedings against NY T for
apparent violation of FCC rulesin connection with
“unreasonable markups and overcharges by MECO on
sales of equipment, supplies, and servicesto NYT,”
which, “in turn, recorded these artificially inflated costs on
[its] regulated books of account, enabling [it] to recover
these costs from ratepayers through the ratemaking
process.” Inre New York Tel. Co., 5 FCC Rcd 866
(1990). NYT subsequently entered into a consent decree;
without admitting liability, NY T agreed to refund more
than $35 million for “unreasonable rates reflecting
improper capital costs and expense charges.” Inre New
York Telephone Co., 5 FCC Rcd 5892, 5893 (1990)
(internal quotation marks omitted).



over the supply of removal servicesto NYT." Id. |
26 (JA. 83).
2. Discon brought suit against petitionersin May 1990

and, following dismissal of its origina complaint,
filed an amended complaint aleging, among other
things, that the above-described conduct violated Sec-
tions 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 1, 2. Dis-
con's complaint characterized MECo as a separate
antitrust entity that competed with AT& T and Dis-
con in supplying removal servicesto NYT. Amend.
Compl. 11 2, 29 (J.A. 75-76, 83). Accordingly, inre-
sponding to petitioners motion to dismiss for faillure
to state a claim, Discon principally argued that peti-
tionersand AT& T had entered into an unlawful hori-
zontal agreement designed to secure monopoly power
in the removal services markets. In the alternative,
Discon maintained that petitionersand AT& T had
entered into avertica price-fixing scheme that was
per se unlawful under Section 1. Discon only briefly
asserted that the alleged scheme also violated Section
1 under arule-of-reason theory by "eliminat[ing] com-
petition in the market for the provision of removal
services"®*  Petitioners essentially ignored Discon's
rule-of-reason theory in seeking dismissal of the
complaint. 4

The district court granted petitioners motion to
dismiss the complaint. The court refused to charac-
terize the alleged conspiracy as horizontal, conclud-
ing that MECo could not properly be viewed as a
supplier of removal services. Pet. App. 28a-29a. The
court held that any other Section 1 theory failed

3 Opposition to Motion to Dismiss 20 (Mar. 1, 1993).

4 See Reply Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss
4-10 (Mar. 22, 1993).



because Discon had not adequately alleged a con-
gpiracy. Id. at 30a-31a. The court also dismissed Dis-
con's clams under Section 2 for monopolization and
attempted monopolization, concluding that petitioners
neither competed nor sought to obtain monopoly
power in the removal services market. 1d. at 32a-36a.
The court rgected Discon's Section 2 conspiracy-to-
monopolize claim both for that reason and for failure
adequately to alege aconspiracy. Id. at 37a-38a.

3. The court of appeals affirmed in part, reversed in
part, and remanded for further proceedings. Pet.

App. 1la-15a, 20a. With respect to the Section 1 claim,
the court of appeals agreed with the district court that
MECo could not properly be characterized as a supplier
of removal services and, therefore, that " Discon cannot
succeed on its theory of aclassic horizontal restraint of
trade," the theory on which Discon had "primarily"
relied. 1d. at 8a, 10a. The court nonetheless reinstated
Discon's Section 1 claim on the ground that "Discon
may be able to prevail under a different lega theory."
Id. at 10a; see also Id. a 7a ("the complaint states a
cause of action under Section One of the Sherman Act,
though under a different legal theory than the one
articulated by Discon").

Invoking Klor's, Inc. v. Broadway-Hale Sores, Inc.,
359 U.S. 207 (1959), the court concluded that an
agreement between vertically situated actors, including
one between a single supplier and a single purchaser,
could be characterized as an unlawful "group
boycott" if the agreement had "a horizontal market
impact." Pet. App. 11a. The court recognized that "in
general two-firm vertical combinations will be
scrutinized as exclusive distributorship controversies,
rather than as group boycotts." Id. at 12a (citing
Business Elecs. Corp. v. Sharp Elecs. Corp., 485 U.S.






competition." Id. at 13a (internal quotation marks
omitted).

With respect to the Section 2 claims, the court of
appeals, while affirming the dismissal of the
monopolization and attempted monopolization claims,
reinstated the conspiracy-to-monopolize claim. Pet.
App. 14a. The court reasoned that "[a] defendant may
be liable for conspiracy to monopolize where it agrees
with another firm to assist that firm in its attempt to
monopolize the relevant market." Ibid. The court
determined that Discon had "sufficiently allege[d]" that
petitioners "conspired with AT& T Technologies and
performed overt acts’ with the specific "inten[t] to
assist AT& T Technologies in its monopolization of the
market for removal services." 1d. at 15a.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court of appeals concluded that an agreement
between afirm and its supplier to exclude a competing
supplier isa"group boycott,” and "per se" unlawful
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, if the agreement is
found, after a case-specific inquiry, to produce solely
anticompetitive effects. Under this Court's decisions,
however, only certain concerted refusals to deal by
competitors warrant a categorical and conclusive
presumption of predominantly anticompetitive effects
and thus may be invalidated as group boycotts. See
Northwest Wholesale Sationers, Inc. v. Pacific
Sationery & Printing Co., 472 U.S. 284, 294 (1985).

® Reversing the district court, the court of appeals also held
that the complaint adequately alleged a vertical conspiracy
between petitionersand AT&T. Pet. App. 7an.3. The
court, however, agreed with the district court that the
complaint failed to allege a per se unlawful vertical resale
price maintenance agreement. Id. at 10an.5.



The conspiracy alleged here does not fall into any of the
categories that this Court has previously denominated
as per seillega and, because vertical agreements to
deal with one supplier often serve procompetitive
purposes even if they disadvantage arival supplier, per
Se treatment is inappropriate regardless of the label
affixed to the arrangement. See Sate Oil Co. v. Khan,
118 S. Ct. 275, 279 (1997).

The court of appeals correctly concluded, however,
that two firms may conspire to monopolize a market, in
violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act, even if only
one of the firms competes in that market, aslong as
both specifically intend that one firm obtain monopoly
power and agree to engage in conduct that is directed
to that end and that lacks any legitimate business
judtification. Petitioners contention that the Section 2
claim should have been dismissed because of asserted
pleading deficiencies in the complaint is not properly
before this Court. And petitioners argument that the
claim should have been dismissed becauseit is
"Implausible” that petitioners specifically intended to
assist AT&T in obtaining monopoly power isincorrect.
Regulation and, in particular, schemes designed to
avoid it may create an incentive for a monopolist to
engage in anticompetitive conduct that it would not
engage in absent regulation. The court of appeals
found in the complaint allegations that petitioners had
an incentive to help AT& T obtain monopoly power
because competing suppliers of removal services
jeopardized petitioners scheme to evade regulation. It
isnot "inherently implausible” in such circumstances for
the benefits to petitioners from regulatory evasion to
outweigh the costs, if any, to petitionersif AT&T
obtained monopoly power.



We believe that the appropriate disposition of this
case is to vacate the judgment of the court of appeals
and to remand the case for further proceedings on both
the rule-of - reason claim under Section 1 and the
conspiracy-to-monopolize claim under Section 2. The
court of appeals determined that the complaint alleged
a Section 1 claim under the rule of reason but did not
elaborate on the nature of that claim, which the court
recognized (Pet. App. 7a) to be based on "a different
legal theory than the one articulated by Discon."”
Although petitioners raise in this Court a number of
objections to the court of appeals rule-of-reason
holding, those contentions neither were raised below
nor are fairly included within the question presented.
Because the court of appeals did not have an
opportunity to consider those objections and
misapprehended the law relating to group boycotts, we
believe that the court should be directed to give further
consideration to whether the complaint states a claim
under the rule of reason. The court of appeals also
reinstated the Section 2 claim based on a theory that
Discon had not clearly pressed below. Because the
court did not have an opportunity to consider
petitioners current objections to that theory, and
because the court was not entirely clear as to whether
Discon adequately alleged that petitioners conspired
with the specific intent to secure monopoly power for
AT&T, the court should aso be directed to give further
consideration to whether Discon adequately alleged a
conspiracy to monopolize.






refusals to deal that "merit per seinvalidation.” 1d. at
293 (citing cases). Conduct that is properly classified
as a"group boycott" is thus "conclusively presumed to
be anticompetitive." Id. at 290, 294-295; FTC v.
Indiana Fed'n of Dentists, 476 U.S. 447, 458 (1986)
(conduct properly denominated a "boycott" is subject
to "the per serule”). Seealso, eg., Arizona v.
Maricopa County Med. Soc'y, 457 U.S. 332, 344 n.15
(1982) ("group boycotts" are "[a]mong the practices
which the courts have heretofore deemed to be
unlawful in and of themselves") (quoting Northern Pac.
Ry. v. United States, 356 U.S. 1, 5 (1958)); United
Sates v. General Motors Corp., 384 U.S. 127,
145-146 (1966) ("[g]roup boycotts' are "among those
classes of restraints which from their nature or
character [are] unduly restrictive” and thus "are
conclusively presumed to be unreasonable") (internal
guotation marks omitted); Summit Health, Ltd. v.
Pinhas, 500 U.S. 322, 337 (1991) (Scdlia, J.,
dissenting) ("group boycotts are per se violations").
Because those restraints that are denominated
"group boycott[s]" violate the Sherman Act "without
regard to the reasonableness of the conduct in the
circumstances,” General Motors, 384 U.S. at 145-146,
this Court has mandated that "[s|ome care" be
exercised in "defining the [types] of concerted refusals
to dedl" that "fall within the forbidden category."
Northwest Wholesale Sationers, 472 U.S. at 294,
Indiana Fed'n of Dentists, 476 U.S. at 458 ("the
category of restraints classed as group boycotts is not
to be expanded indiscriminately"). The category does
not encompass "every cooperative activity involving a
restraint or exclusion." Northwest Wholesale
Sationers, 472 U.S. at 295. It isrestricted to "form[g]
of concerted activity" that are "characteristicaly likely









2. Under this Court's decisions, the restraint at
issue here a vertical agreement between a purchaser
and a supplier to exclude another supplier cannot
properly be termed a "group boycott." Asthe court of
appeals acknowledged (Pet. App. 12a), "[i]n the vast
majority of cases, the decision to discriminate in favor
of one supplier over another will have a pro-
competitive intent and effect.” That correct
observation precludes categorical condemnation of
such arrangements. Indeed, virtually any requirements
contract could be characterized as a"two-firm vertical"
agreement "to discriminate in favor of one supplier over
another." Ibid. Yet, such agreements are considered
generaly to enhance efficiency and thus are subject to
evauation under the rule of reason. See Tampa Elec.
Co. v. Nashville Coal Co., 365 U.S. 320, 334 (1961);
Standard Oil Co. v. United Sates, 337 U.S. 293,
306-307 (1949); Jefferson Parish Hosp. Dist. No. 2 v.
Hyde, 466 U.S. 2, 45 (1984) (O'Connor, J.,
concurring); U.S. Healthcare, Inc. v. Healthsource,
Inc., 986 F.2d 589, 595 (1st Cir. 1993) (Boudin, J.);
Barry Wright Corp.v. ITT Grinnell Corp., 724 F.2d
227, 236-237 (1st Cir. 1983) (Breyer, J.) (citing cases
from other circuits).

The court of appeals reached a contrary conclusion
in this case because it used the terms "group boycott"
and "per se" in amanner that finds no support in this
Court's decisions. The court appeared to use "group
boycott" not to refer to a class of restraint that war-
rants categorical condemnation because of its inher-
ently anticompetitive character, but rather to denote
avertical agreement to exclude a supplier when, on
the facts of a particular case, the agreement is found to
have solely anticompetitive effects. And the court
denominated the outcome of that case-specific exami-






359 U.S. at 213. Moreover, although the court of
appedls described the agreements among the defendants
inKlor's as "essentially vertical in nature”" (Pet. App.
11a), the Klor's Court emphasized that the case
involved not a "manufacturer and a dealer agreeing to
an exclusive distributorship” but rather "awide
combination consisting of manufacturers, distributors
and aretailer,” 359 U.S. at 212-213. This Court has
since described the case as standing for the principle
that "any agreement by a group of competitors to
boycott a particular buyer or group of buyersisillegal
per se." FMC v. Aktiebolaget Svenska Amerika Linien,
390 U.S. 238, 250 (1968); accord General Motors, 384
U.S. at 146. And in Business Electronics, the Court
made clear that Klor's rule of per seillegality wastied
to the existence there of a"horizontal combination[]."
485 U.S. at 734.

Accordingly, the court of appeals erred in concluding
that the vertical agreement between petitioners and
AT&T, if shown to "ha ve] no purpose except stifling
competition” in the particular circumstances of this case
(Pet. App. 13a (internal quotation marks omitted)),
could be invalidated as a per se unlawful "group
boycott." Discon's alegations of a Section 1 violation
should be judged solely under the rule of reason.

3. Because the question presented with respect to
Section 1 islimited to whether the court of appeals
erred in characterizing the agreement that Discon
alleged as an illegal "group boycott" (Pet. i; Pet. Br.

i), thereis no occasion for this Court to address

° Similarly, in the portion of the petition addressing the Section
1 claim, petitioners focused on urging the Court to review the
Second Circuit’s “[e]xten[sion] of the [g]roup [b]oycott [r]ule






that were neither raised nor specifically addressed
below. Those include the admittedly "novel" (Pet. Br.
36) question whether a supplier such as Discon can
prevail on arule-of-reason claim that is based on a
regulatory evasion scheme.® Asthe United States
previously noted (U.S. Pet. Br. 18-20), the Court
would be required to address petitioners rule-of-
reason claim without the benefit of either a devel-
oped factual record or any analysis of the pertinent
issues by the lower courts. Such circumstances counsel
for "faithful application” of Rule 14.1(a). 1zumi
Saimitsu, 510 U.S. at 34; cf. Walker Process Equip.,
Inc. v. Food Mach. & Chem. Corp., 382 U.S. 172, 178
(2965) (concluding that "even though the per se claim
falls at this stage of litigation," the case "should be
remanded for [the plaintiff] to clarify the asserted
violations * * * and to offer proof thereon,” in part
because of "the novelty of the claim asserted and the
paucity of guidelines available in the decided cases’).
4. We believe that the court of appeals judgment
reinstating the Section 1 claim should be vacated and

10 A5 petitioners recognize (Pet. Br. 20-22), there is no need to
address that question in order to conclude that the scheme that
Discon alleged is not unlawful per se. Whether or not a scheme
to exclude a supplier for the purpose and with the effect of
facilitating the evasion of regulation violates the antitrust lawsin
some circumstances (cf. U.S. Pet. Br. 7-12), the courts obviously
lack sufficient experience with such “novel” (Pet. Br. 36) claims
to warrant the creation of anew category of per seillegality. See
Sate Oil, 118 S. Ct. at 279 (“per se treatment is appropriate
‘[o]nce experience with a particular kind of restraint enables the
Court to predict with confidence that the rule of reason will
condemn it.””) (quoting Maricopa County Med. Soc’y, 457 U.S.
at 344).






II. AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN A
PURCHASER AND A SUPPLIER TO EXCLUDE
A COMPETING SUPPLIER CAN CONSTITUTE
AN UNLAWFUL CONSPIRACY TO
MONOPOLIZE WHEN THE PARTIES
SPECIFICALLY INTEND THE CONSPIRING
SUPPLIER TO MONOPOLIZE THE MARKET

The petition presents the second question (Pet. i;
Pet. Br. i) whether a vertical agreement between a
supplier and a purchaser that does not involve price
restraints may be characterized as a conspiracy to
monopolize under Section 2 of the Sherman Act. The
court of appeals implicitly answered that question in the
affirmative. It concluded (Pet. App. 14a-15a) that
Discon's complaint stated a conspiracy-to-monopolize
clam because it alleged that petitioners conspired with
AT&T to eliminate Discon with the specific intent to
secure monopoly power for AT&T in the relevant
removal services markets. The court of appeals
conclusion that such allegations state a claim under
Section 2 is correct.

1. Section 2 proscribes "combin[ations] or
conspir[acies] * * * to monopolize any part of the
trade or commerce.” 15U.S.C. 2. The gravamen of
such an offense is a conspiracy entered into by two or
more actors sharing the specific intent to monopolize a
market, i.e., an intent to create or maintain monopoly
power through improper means. See United Sates
Seel Corp. v. Fortner Enters,, Inc., 429 U.S. 610, 612
n.1(1977); see dso e.g., Northeastern Tel. Co. v.

pp. 28-29, infra, the Court should leave for the court of appeals
to determine on remand whether the Section 1 claim should
proceed on the ground that the complaint adequately alleges a
conspiracy to monopolize.









Those issues are not properly before this Court.
Petitioners sought, and this Court granted, certio-
rari on the question whether a vertical non-price
agreement between "a [p]urchaser" and its "[s]up-
plier" could "be characterized as a conspiracy to mo-
nopolize." Peti; Pet. Br.i. Inthe portion of the
petition discussing that question, petitioners smply
argued, in genera terms, that "a buyer's choice of one
supplier rather than another" should never be viewed as
aconspiracy to monopolize, even "where the result is
the acquisition of monopoly power." Pet. 16.*
Petitioners did not seek review of the court of appeals
reading of the complaint as alleging that petitioners
specifically intended to assist AT& T in monopolizing
the removal services market. Petitioners likewise did
not seek review of the pleading standard applied by the
court of appeals to Discon's conspiracy-to-monopolize
clam.

Because the question presented is limited to

whether a vertical agreement between a purchaser
and supplier ever can be characterized as a conspir-
acy to monopolize, petitioners various objections to
the court of appeals reading of the complaint are not
"fairly included,"” Sup. Ct. Rule 14.1(a), within the
guestion presented. Nor does the question presented

14 See also Pet. 14-15 (challenging the court of appeals
“assum[ption]” that a“theory of conspiracy to monopolizeis
applicable where a purchaser agrees to buy from one supplier (the
alleged would-be monopolist) rather than another, and where the
purchaser’srole in the alleged conspiracy to monopolize consists
solely of favoring the alleged would-be monopolist as a supplier
of the purchaser’s needs’); Pet. Reply Br. 3 (“[R]espondent cites
no case which has held that a buyer’s choice of one supplier over
another may be a conspiracy to monopolize.”).






mize the costs that he has to pay for hisinputs.”
Olympia Equip. Leasing Co. v. Western Union Tel.
Co., 797 F.2d 370, 374 (7th Cir. 1986) (Posner, J.),
cert. denied, 480 U.S. 934 (1987); see dso Car
Carriers, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 745 F.2d 1101 (7th
Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1054 (1985). "There
are, however, specia circumstances in which arational
monopolist may want to restrict competition in an input
market; as it happens, one of those circumstancesis
where the monopolist's rates are regulated.” Olympia,
797 F.2d at 374. For instance, a monopolist subject to
rate regulation "may have an incentive to project its
monopoly into related but unregulated markets' in
order, for example, to "smuggle" some of its profitsin
the regulated market, which "regulators would
otherwise force it to pass on to the ratepayers,” into the
rates that it charges in the unregulated market. 1bid;
see generally 3A Phillip E. Areeda & Herbert
Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law ] 787, at 282-285 (1996).

A regulated monopolist likewise might vertically
integrate into an input market, sell the input to itself at
a supracompetitive price, and recover the entire price
from captive ratepayers. If other firmsin the market
are salling the input at alower price, however,
regulators may discover that the monopolist's vertical
integration, rather than serving exclusively
procompetitive ends, is designed to evade rate regu-
lation and obtain monopoly rents. Thus, the
monopolist might have an incentive to eliminate other
suppliers indeed, to acquire a second monopoly in the
input market in order to suppress the threat to its
regulatory evasion posed by competing suppliers. Cf.
Olympia, 797 F.2d at 374.

Similarly, under the allegations of Discon's com-

plaint as construed by the court of appeals (see Pet.



App. 14a-15a), it is not "inherently implausible”" (Pet.
Br. 39) that petitioners had an incentive to eliminate
competition among suppliers of removal services. The
alleged agreement between petitionersand AT&T to
inflate the price of removal services and to share the
resulting profits between themselves would have served
as a substitute for the sort of "straightforward
monopolistic” price increase that regulation
prevented.™ And such a scheme could have been
jeopardized if regulators became aware of the
competing bids of Discon and any other suppliers of
removal services. The eliminiation of such competitors,
as well as the assertion of wholly pretextual reasons for
refusing to deal with them, could thus serve to conceal
the scheme.

In arguing that "[t]he alleged profit-making mecha
nism of regulatory evasion in no way depended on or
implied" the creation of monopoly power in the re-
moval services market (Pet. Br. 38), petitioners over-
look the nature of the threat that competing suppli-
ers, such as Discon, alegedly posed to the regulatory
evasion scheme. It it both plausible and consistent
with the complaint, as the court of appealsread it, for
petitioners to have concluded that the scheme could
be concealed from regulators only by the elimination
of competing suppliers. The immediate gainsto peti-
tioners from the profitable regulatory evasion scheme
could, at least conceivably, have outweighed the risk
of future loss from AT& T's acquisition of monopoly
power. The regulatory structure allowed petitioners
to pass on to ratepayers any monopoly price that
AT&T charged for removal services. Accordingly, if

15 Thomas G. Krattenmaker, Telecommunications Law and
Policy 516 (1994).






4. Although the court of appeals correctly held that
petitioners, under certain circumstances, could be held
liable for conspiring to monopolize the removal services
market, we nonetheless believe that the Court should
vacate the court of appeals judgment and remand the
Section 2 claim (along with the Section 1 claim, see pp.
19-20, supra) for further proceedings. The petition
(see Pet. 14) and our discussion here are premised on
the understanding that the court of appeals read the
complaint to allege that petitioners engaged in a
conspiracy with the specific intent to assist AT&T in
acquiring monopoly power in the relevant removal
services market through improper means. The court's
opinion, however, is not completely clear on the point.
Seg, e.g., Pet. App. 15a (finding sufficient allegations
that petitioners sought AT& T's "dominance," but not
explaining whether "dominance" encompasses
monopoly power). And, absent a specific intent to
confer monopoly power on AT& T through improper
means, a Section 2 claim would not be stated. In these
circumstances, we believe that it would be appropriate
to remand the case to allow the court of appealsto
clarify the basis for its decision and to determine
whether the Section 2 claim should proceed.

This disposition is particularly appropriate in light
of the court of appeals reinstatement of the Section 2
claim based on atheory that Discon did not clearly
advance. As noted above, petitioners merits brief in
this Court raises a number of objections to the court
of appedls reinstatement of the Section 2 claim that
are not fairly included within the question presented
in the petition. Because the court of appeals found
that the Section 2 claim was sufficiently alleged on a
basis "not previoudly argued,” Trest v. Cain, 118 S.






